IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRCEFILED: Mar 24 2023 NO. ______ Transaction ID 69645959

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA ex rel. WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES,

Petitioner,

v.

THE HONORABLE DAVID R. JANES, Judge, Circuit Court of Marion County,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF PROHIBITION

From the Circuit Court of Marion County

CC-24-2022-JA-110

Lou Ann S. Cyrus, Esq. (WVSB # 6558) <u>lcyrus@shumanlaw.com</u> Natalie C. Schaefer, Esq. (WVSB # 9103) <u>nschaefer@shumanlaw.com</u> Shannon M. Rogers, Esq. (WVSB # 13920) <u>srogers@shumanlaw.com</u> SHUMAN MCCUSKEY SLICER PLLC 1411 Virginia Street East, Suite 200 Charleston, West Virginia 25301

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

 Whether the Circuit Court committed clear legal error and exceeded its legitimate powers in entering an Administrative Order directing the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources to make direct payments to socially necessary service providers within a prescribed time frame.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources ("DHHR"), files this Petition for Writ of Prohibition seeking to prohibit the enforcement of an Administrative Order entered on February 7, 2023, by the Circuit Court of Marion County, West Virginia requiring that the DHHR make direct payments to any socially necessary service providers involved in current or future abuse and neglect proceedings in Marion County, West Virginia, within fifteen (15) business days of the entry of such Order. App. 000001-000003. Because Petitioner has been placed in the untenable position of possibly violating the Circuit Court's Order if payment cannot always be made within this arbitrary, narrow timeframe, Petitioners feel they have no choice but to seek relief on an emergent basis pursuant to the Writ of Prohibition sought herein.

Specifically, the Circuit Court stated it became aware that the DHHR "was currently unable to enter referrals or provide payment for socially necessary services, including supervised visitations, to the families involved in ongoing abuse and neglect proceedings in Marion County, West Virginia." App. 000001. Tacitly recognizing the problem is due to a technical issue derived from the DHHR's transitioning to new billing software, the Circuit Court stated, "Until such time as the current PATH system and Atrezzo platform can properly communicate, this Court ORDERS that the local Child Protective Services workers and/or supervisors shall provide an authorization letter to any socially necessary service provider that that specifically guarantees payment in full for all services deemed necessary in the current abuse and neglect proceeding without an authorization number being listed in the PATH or Atrezzo systems." App. 000002. The Circuit Court stated, "Further, the authorization letter shall give direct consent for the applicable socially necessary services provider to provide services to and work with the family involved in the current abuse and neglect proceeding." App. 000002.

As a result, despite recognizing that the error was technological and temporary in nature, the Circuit Court ordered the DHHR to make direct payments to any socially necessary service provider involved in current abuse and neglect proceedings, as well as any future abuse and neglect proceedings in Marion County, West Virginia, within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of invoices for the aforementioned services. App. 000001-000003. The Court further ordered that the DHHR make payment in full to any service provider in ongoing abuse and neglect proceedings in Marion County for services rendered from January 1, 2023, to present within fifteen (15) business days after entry of the Order. App. 000001-000003. This Order has no expiration date and appears to restrict the DHHR into perpetuity.

On February 28, 2023, less than fifteen (15) business days after entry of the Court's Administrative Order, Petitioner filed its Motion to Vacate and to Stay, requesting that the Court vacate its Administrative Order on the grounds that it exceeds the Court's judicial authority, violates the West Virginia Constitution's Separation of Powers Doctrine, and improperly attempts to modify the terms of the contracts the DHHR maintains with its service providers. App. 000006-000021. The DHHR also advised the Court of the exhaustive efforts it had already been making to resolve the technological issues which initially caused delays in payment. App. 000019-000020. The Court was further informed of the DHHR's decision to contravene its own process for processing payment to ensure that its service providers were timely paid, and, as a result, that all invoices from January and February 2023 had been satisfied. App. 000019-000020.

In addition to its Motion seeking that the Circuit Court vacate its Administrative Order, the Petitioner requested that the Court stay the Administrative Order while the Petitioner's Motion to Vacate is pending. To date, the Circuit Court has not ruled on the motion. Thus, the Petitioner has been unable to obtain relief from the Administrative Order from the Circuit Court. As a result of the Circuit Court's failure to vacate its Administrative Order, the DHHR has been placed in an impossible position because it cannot guarantee compliance with the Court's Order regarding future payments, risking the DHHR being in contempt of the Order. Petitioner therefore seeks relief on an emergent basis pursuant to the Writ of Prohibition sought herein and the separate Motion for Expedited and/or Emergency Relief being filed contemporaneously herewith.

Pursuant to Rule 16 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner requests that this Court issue a Writ of Prohibition, reversing the Administrative Order of the Respondent, the Honorable David R. Janes, and further prohibiting Respondent from enforcing the Administrative Order requiring the DHHR to make full payment to its service providers within a time frame set unilaterally by the Circuit Court. W. Va. R. App. P. 16.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court committed clear error and exceeded its legitimate powers when it entered a procedurally improper Administrative Order compelling the DHHR to make past and future payments to its socially necessary service providers within a fifteen (15) business day period, based on a technological delay in payments which, at most, only existed for six weeks prior to the Court entering its Administrative Order. The Circuit Court erred in failing to grant the Petitioner relief from the Administrative Order based on its overstep of authority in entering an Administrative Order directing functions of the executive branch.

The Circuit Court further exceeded its legitimate powers by finding that West Virginia Code § 49-4-601 granted it the authority to direct the DHHR's time frame for payment to its vendors, in an Order which violates the Separation of Powers doctrine of the West Virginia Constitution in that the Order attempts to exercise administrative duties of the executive branch.

Further, the Circuit Court committed clear error and exceeded its powers by failing to vacate an Order which attempts to modify terms of previously existing contracts to which the Circuit Court is not a party. This is evident in both that the Administrative Order required specified timing for payment by DHHR to its vendors and also in its mandate that Child Protective Services workers provide authorization letters to service providers guaranteeing its payment.

Accordingly, this Court should immediately stay the Circuit Court's Administrative Order, schedule this matter for oral argument, enter an order granting the Writ of Prohibition, prohibiting the lower court from enforcing the Administrative Order, and direct the Circuit Court to reverse its Administrative Order entered on February 7, 2023.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Although this case involves issues of settled law that are narrow in scope and concerns the circuit court's clear legal error in applying that settled law, oral argument in this matter under Rule 19 likely would aid this Court in its decision process, W. Va. R. App. P. 19(a)(1) and (4).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard

This Court's original jurisdiction is recognized in West Virginia Code § 53-1-1, *et seq*, and Rule 16 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. "The writ of prohibition shall lie as a matter of right in all cases of usurpation and abuse of power, when the inferior court has no jurisdiction of the subject matter in controversy, or, having such jurisdiction, exceeds its legitimate powers." W. Va. Code § 53-1-1. A writ of prohibition is proper whenever an inferior court does not have jurisdiction or has jurisdiction but exceeds its legitimate powers. State ex rel. Farber v. Mazzone, 213 W. Va. 661, 664, 584 S.E.2d 517, 520 (2003).

Petitioners seek a writ of prohibition because the Circuit Court exceeded its legitimate powers and committed clear legal error when it entered an Administrative Order directing the DHHR to make payments to its service providers within a prescribed time period for all current and future invoices received in Marion County, West Virginia, and required CPS workers to provide authorization of payment letters to service providers. In such instances, this Court has established the following standard of review for issuing a writ of prohibition:

In determining whether to entertain and issue the writ of prohibition for cases not involving an absence of jurisdiction but only where it is claimed that the lower tribunal exceeded its legitimate powers, this Court will examine five factors: (1) whether the party seeking the writ has no other adequate means, such as direct appeal, to obtain the desired relief; (2) whether the petitioner will be damaged or prejudiced in a way that is not correctable on appeal; (3) whether the lower tribunal's order is clearly erroneous as a matter of law; (4) whether the lower tribunal's order is an oft repeated error or manifests persistent disregard for either procedural or substantive law; and (5) whether the lower tribunal's order raises new and important problems or issues of law of first impression. These factors are general guidelines that serve as a useful starting point for determining whether a discretionary writ of prohibition should issue. Although all five factors need not be satisfied, it is clear that the third factor, the existence of clear error as a matter of law, should be given substantial weight.

Syl. Pt. 4, State ex rel. Hoover v. Berger, 199 W. Va. 12, 483 S.E.2d 12 (1996); see also Syl. Pt.
2, State ex rel. West Virginia Nat'l Auto Ins. Co. v. Bedell, 223 W.Va. 222, 672 S.E.2d 358 (2008);
Syl. Pt. 1, State ex rel. Blake v. Hatcher, 218 W. Va. 407, 624 S.E.2d 844 (2005); Syl. Pt. 1, State ex rel. Cosenza v. Hill, 216 W. Va. 482, 607 S.E.2d 811 (2004); Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. Isferding v. Canady, 199 W. Va. 209, 483 S.E.2d 555 (1997).

The first two factors--whether the party seeking the writ has no other adequate means, such as direct appeal, to obtain the desired relief and whether the petitioner will be damaged or prejudiced in a way that is not correctable on appeal--unquestionably are present here. The subject Administrative Order was entered without formal advance notice to Petitioner. The Administrative Order was entered in a *specific* juvenile abuse and neglect proceeding, and therefore, procedurally, it is unclear in what manner relief may be sought aside from the motions filed. In response, Petitioner filed a Motion to Dismiss and a Motion to Stay, yet has received no ruling from the Circuit Court on those motions. To that point, the undersigned's office was informally advised to file a Notice of Appearance for the limited purpose of responding to the Court's Administrative Order. It is unheard of that an Order be issued against an entity requiring it to act in a broad manner that exceeds the scope of the specific action. This procedural means for the DHHR to obtain any relief at all underscores the fact that the Administrative Order was procedurally improper. The Circuit Court's imposition on such operational processes of the DHHR is violative of the separation of powers doctrine.

Moreover, Petitioner explained in the Motion that it was taking immediate actions to address the payment issues that only recently arose due to a change in software. This indicated not only that the issue was being addressed, but that it was temporary in nature, such that the Administrative Order was unnecessary. Still, the Circuit Court has not acted on the motion or taken any action to rescind the Administrative Order.

The third and most important factor – that the Circuit Court's Administrative Order is clearly erroneous as a matter of law – exists here. The evidence indisputably demonstrated that Petitioner was taking steps to address the temporary payment issues. Due to the scope of services provided by Petitioner, it is impossible to *guarantee payment of all invoices* within the prescribed time frame required by the Circuit Court.

The law surrounding writs of mandamus is well settled that mandamus is unavailable to compel the performance of official duties which are being performed and that mandamus is similarly unavailable where compliance with the mandate of the writ is impossible. *See State ex rel. Nelson v. Ritchie*, 154 W. Va. 644, 651, 177 S.E.2d at 795 (mandamus "will not issue if the duty sought to be enforced has already been done or is being performed,"); *State ex rel. Board of Education v. Johnson*, 156 W. Va. 39, 43, 190 S.E.2d 483, 486 (1972) ([m]andamus will not be granted where compliance with the mandate of the writ is impossible"). Likewise, the foregoing demonstrates a persistent disregard for procedural and substantive law.

With regard to the Circuit Court's Administrative Order compelling the payment of provider invoices within a short, prescribed time frame and the mandates placed upon CPS workers, the third and fourth factors are present as well. Notably, Petitioner was deprived of the opportunity to present evidence on the issue of temporarily delayed payments because it was not made aware of the broad issues before the Administrative Order was entered. Additionally, the time frame for payment is arbitrary and capricious.

With regard to the fifth factor-- whether the lower tribunal's order raises new and important problems or issues of law of first impression--the Circuit Court's Order regarding payment of socially necessary services creates the potential for conflicting directives from other circuit court courts, who may order the Petitioner to handle provider invoices differently. The Order itself further directly contradicts Petitioner's own internal "checks and balances" system in which invoices are reviewed and confirmed accurate prior to payment.

As such, Petitioner seeks a Writ of Prohibition prohibiting the Circuit Court's enforcement of its Administrative Order, removing the time constraint and allowing the Petitioner to continue performing its executive duties without continued interference and oversight by the Circuit Court. Accordingly, Petitioner seeks a Writ of Prohibition prohibiting the Circuit Court from enforcing

7

its Administrative Order and reversing the Administrative Order as it exceeds the Circuit Court's scope of authority and constitutes clear legal error.

II. Discussion

A. The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and exceeded the scope of its judicial authority by entering an Administrative Order requiring the DHHR to pay its service providers within an arbitrary time frame set by the Court.

The Circuit Court's Administrative Order should be reversed as it constitutes clear legal error and is outside the scope of judicial authority in that it operates as mandamus relief which is inappropriate under the circumstances, violates the Separation of Powers Doctrine of the West Virginia Constitution, and attempts to modify terms of a previously existing contract. The DHHR has made exhaustive efforts to remedy what was a temporary and unforeseen delay in payments due to a software malfunction, and the Court's Order regarding the DHHR's operation should be reversed.

i. Though Petitioner does not dispute that the underlying concern regarding its payment to socially necessary service providers is significant to its operation, an Administrative Order providing a broad sweeping mandate by requiring payment within fifteen (15) business days is outside the scope of the Circuit Court's authority. The Circuit Court's February 7, 2023 Administrative Order operates as an order of "mandamus" and exceeds the scope of its authority because the DHHR has not refused to act.

A Circuit Court's remedy of mandamus relief is an extraordinary one that is "available only in limited and exceptional circumstances," *State ex rel. Charleston Bldg. Comm'n v. Dial*, 198 W. Va. 185, 191, 479 S.E.2d 695, 701 (1996), which should be "invoked sparingly." *State ex rel. Billings v. City of Point Pleasant*, 194 W. Va. 301, 303, 460 S.E.2d 436, 438 (1995). In those exceptional circumstances, a writ of mandamus may be a "proper proceeding by which to compel a public officer to perform a mandatory, nondiscretionary legal duty." Syl. Pt. 3, *Delardas v. Cnty. Ct. of Monongalia Cnty.*, 155 W. Va. 776, 186 S.E.2d 847 (1972). However, such a power of a circuit court is also limited to be used only to "compel tribunals and officers exercising discretionary and judicial powers to act, *when they refuse to do so*, in violation of their duty..." Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res. v. Bloom*, No. 22-0027, 2022 W. Va. LEXIS 701 (Nov. 17, 2022) (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added).

"Attempting to further limit the extraordinary remedy of mandamus, [the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has] established additional guidelines which a party¹ requesting mandamus must satisfy before [the Supreme Court] will grant such relief[:] "A writ of mandamus will not issue unless three elements coexist – (1) The existence of a clear right in the petitioner to the relief sought; (2) the existence of a legal duty on the part of respondent to do the thing which petitioner seeks to compel; and (3) the absence of another adequate remedy at law." *Dial*, 198 W. Va. at 191, 479 S.E.2d at 701 (quoting Syl. pt. 2, *State ex rel. Kucera v. City of Wheeling*, 153 W. Va. 538, 170 S.E.2d 367 (1969)).

Mandamus "will not be employed 'to require acts which are being performed or have been performed, or will be performed without coercion." *State ex rel. Public Serv. Comm'n v. Indian Creek Gas Co.*, 154 W. Va. 835, 839, 179 S.E.2d 574, 576 (1971) (quoting 52 Am. Jur. 2d, *Mandamus*, Section 36, and citing *State ex rel. Hedrick v. Board of Commissioners of the County of Ohio*, 146 W. Va. 79, 118 S.E.2d 73 (1961); *State ex rel. Beckley Newspapers Corp. v. Hunter*, 127 W. Va. 738, 34 S.E.2d 468 (1945); *Monongalia Improvement Co. v. Morris*, 106 W. Va. 243, 145 S.E.2d 387 (1928); 52 Am. Jur. 2d, *Mandamus*, Section 89, 55 C.J.S. *Mandamus*, Section 10(b).

¹ It is salient to once again note that, upon information and belief, no "party" sought mandamus relief. The subject Administrative Order was apparently entered *sua sponte* by the Circuit Court absent a motion and without prior notice to the Petitioner of the broad-sweeping nature of its subject mandates.

The purpose of a mandamus action is to compel a public office or officer to discharge a

legal duty that the public office or officer has refused to discharge:

It is well settled that "mandamus lies to require the discharge by a public officer of a nondiscretionary [sic] duty." Syllabus Point 3, *State ex rel. Greenbrier County Airport Authority v. Hanna*, 151 W. Va. 479, 153 S.E.2d 284 (1967). A nondiscretionary or ministerial duty in the context of a mandamus action is one that "is so plain in point of law and so clear in matter of fact that no element of discretion is left as to the precise mode of its performance[.]" Syllabus Point 3, in part, *Walter v. Ritchie*, 156 W. Va. 98, 191 S.E.2d 275 (1972). Also, "mandamus is a proper remedy to compel tribunals and officers exercising discretionary and judicial powers to act, *when they refuse so to do*, in violation of their duty, but it is never employed to prescribe in what manner they shall act, or to correct errors they have made." Syllabus Point 1, *State ex rel. Buxton v. O'Brien*, 97 W. Va. 343, 125 S.E. 154 (1924).

Nobles v. Duncil, 202 W. Va. 523, 534-535, 505 S.E.2d 442, 453-454 (1998)(Emphasis added.)

Further, "[t]he function of a writ of mandamus is to enforce the performance of official duties arising from the discharge of some public function, or imposed by statute." *Hickman v. Epstein*, 192 W. Va. 42, 44, 450 S.E.2d 406, 408 (1994); Syl. pt. 1, *State ex rel. Allstate Ins. Co. v. Union Pub. Serv. Dist.*, 151 W. Va. 207, 151 S.E.2d 102 (1966) ("Mandamus is a proper remedy to require the performance of a nondiscretionary duty by various governmental agencies or

bodies.").

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