IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

State of West Virginia ex rel.  
West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources,

SCA EFiled: May 19 2023  
02:10PM EDT  
Transaction ID 70049386

Petitioner,

vs.

No. 23-174

Honorable Steven L. Shaffer, Judge of the Circuit Court of Preston County,

Respondent.

AND

State of West Virginia ex rel.  
West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources,

Petitioner,

vs.

No. 23-175

Honorable David R. Janes, Judge of the Circuit Court of Marion County,

Respondent.

---

RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO WRITS OF PROHIBITION

---

Marc E. Williams, Esq. (WVSBN 4062)\*  
Thomas M. Hancock, Esq. (WVSBN 10597)

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

The Administrative Orders do not unduly contravene contracts between the service providers and DHHR where such contracts admittedly lack provisions regarding timing for payments and otherwise cutting the circuit courts out of the payment process would be contrary to public policy.

Finally, statutory duties and public policy support an active role for the circuit courts in the administration and availability of socially necessary services where disruptions to such services could jeopardize federal funding and undermine the purposes of the child welfare system generally.

### **III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

As discussed in further detail below, the Administrative Orders are appropriate applications of the circuit courts' statutory and inherent authority. Accordingly, there is no basis to issue a Rule to Show Cause because DHHR fails to satisfy any of the *Hoover* factors for the issuance of a writ. However, if the Court finds that oral argument is appropriate, Judge Shaffer and Judge Janes request oral argument under West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 20. DHHR's attempt to limit the ability of circuit judges to exercise their inherent and statutory authority to oversee abuse and neglect cases is an issue of "fundamental public importance" justifying full oral argument and a signed opinion. *See* W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a)(2).

#### IV. ARGUMENT

##### A. This Court Should Not Entertain Writs of Prohibition Because DHHR Fails to Satisfy Any of the Factors under *Hoover*.

As a threshold matter, DHHR is not entitled to the extraordinary relief it seeks. As this Court has recognized, “[a] writ of prohibition is an extraordinary remedy reserved for extraordinary causes.” *State ex rel. Yurish v. Faircloth*, 243 W. Va. 537, 542, 847 S.E.2d 810, 815 (2020). Likewise, “[a] writ of prohibition will not issue to prevent a simple abuse of discretion by a trial court. It will only issue where the trial court has no jurisdiction or having such jurisdiction exceeds its legitimate powers. W. Va. Code 53-1-1.” Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Peacher v. Sencindiver*, 160 W. Va. 314, 233 S.E.2d 425 (1977). *See also* Syl. Pt. 1, *Crawford v. Taylor*, 138 W. Va. 207, 75 S.E.2d 370 (1953) (“Prohibition lies only to restrain inferior courts from proceeding in causes over which they have no jurisdiction, or, in which, having jurisdiction, they are exceeding their legitimate powers and may not be used as a substitute for writ of error, appeal or certiorari.”).

In *State ex rel. Hoover v. Berger*, 199 W. Va. 12, 483 S.E.2d 12 (1996), this Court held as follows:

In determining whether to entertain and issue the writ of prohibition for cases not involving an absence of jurisdiction but only where it is claimed that the lower tribunal exceeded its legitimate powers, this Court will examine five factors: (1) whether the party seeking the writ has no other adequate means, such as direct appeal, to obtain the desired relief; (2) whether the petitioner will be damaged or prejudiced in a way that is not correctable on appeal; (3) whether the lower tribunal’s order is clearly erroneous as a matter of law; (4) whether the lower tribunal’s order is an oft repeated error or manifests persistent disregard for either procedural or substantive law; and (5) whether the lower tribunal’s order raises new and important problems or issues of law of first impression. These factors are general guidelines that serve as a useful starting point for determining whether a discretionary writ of prohibition should issue. Although all five factors need not be satisfied, it is clear that the third factor, the existence of clear error as a matter of law, should be given substantial weight.

*Id.* at Syl. Pt. 4.

DHHR's reliance on *State ex rel. West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources v. Bloom*, 247 W. Va. 433, 880 S.E.2d 899 (2022), is misplaced. The writ of mandamus in *Bloom* was established by a narrowly tailored, *agreed* mandamus order that eventually ballooned into requests for statewide enforcement. By contrast here, although the orders in these combined cases command compliance, the Administrative Orders are neither mandamus writs nor orders to show cause for contempt. The Administrative Orders derive from the circuit courts' authority granted in West Virginia Code Section 49-4-108 and separately involve only two counties. Further, as will be expanded on below, DHHR's classification of these orders as *ex parte* writs of mandamus is an obvious ploy to mutate the Administrative Orders into foes easier to challenge on a petition for writ of prohibition and obfuscate DHHR's failure to first remedy its concerns in the circuit courts.

Because DHHR fails to satisfy *any* of the factors set forth in *Hoover*, its petitions should be denied.

**1. DHHR has other adequate means to obtain the desired relief where motions to vacate the Administrative Orders have not yet been decided.**

The first *Hoover* factor weighs against the issuance of a writ where DHHR has other adequate means to obtain its desired relief. Namely, DHHR's respective motions to vacate the Administrative Orders have not yet been decided. Contrary to DHHR's contentions, if DHHR has not yet received a ruling from Judge Janes, it is because DHHR did not set its motion for a hearing or otherwise comply with West Virginia Trial Court Rule 22.04, which states that "[a]ny motion requiring immediate disposition shall be called to the attention of the court by the party filing such motion." W. Va. Trial Ct. R. 22.04.

Likewise, if DHHR has not yet received a ruling from Judge Shaffer, it is because DHHR did not file a miscellaneous action to docket the motion, as it was advised to do.<sup>16</sup> Once again, contrary to DHHR's contention, miscellaneous actions most certainly are not "unheard of" in our judicial system. *See Brozik v. Parmer*, No. 16-0238, 2017 WL 65475, at \*2 n.3 (W. Va. Jan. 6, 2017) (discussing a miscellaneous action to execute a judgment); *see also Rodrick v. Kauffman*, 455 F. Supp. 3d 546, 547 (M.D. Tenn. 2020) ("In general, miscellaneous actions are used for administrative matters that require resolution through the judicial system.").

Thus, DHHR finds itself making a circular argument. It contends that the first *Hoover* factor is satisfied because the circuit courts have not ruled on the motions to vacate. Yet, the motions to vacate have never been ruled on because of DHHR's failure to notice its own motions for hearing. Simply put, DHHR's failure to pursue the necessary steps to obtain adequate remedies does not mean that adequate remedies do not exist.

Furthermore, DHHR cannot argue that the Administrative Orders are non-appealable interlocutory decisions when it did not inform the circuit courts that it intended to seek extraordinary relief or request that the circuit courts enter an order containing findings of fact and conclusions of law. Such actions are conditions precedent to seeking a writ of prohibition.

As this Court held in *State ex rel. Allstate v. Gaughan*, 203 W. Va. 358, 508 S.E.2d 75 (1998):

A party seeking to petition this Court for an extraordinary writ based upon a non-appealable interlocutory decision of a trial court, must request the trial court set out in an order findings of fact and conclusions of law that support and form the basis of its decision. In making the request to the trial court, counsel must inform the trial court specifically that the request is being made because counsel intends to seek an extraordinary writ to challenge the court's ruling.

---

<sup>16</sup> That Judge Shaffer decided to issue a standing order, rather than the same order in multiple cases, was well within his inherent authority to control his docket. *See State ex rel. Almond v. Rudolph*, 238 W. Va. 289, 296, 794 S.E.2d 10, 17 (2016) ("This Court has consistently protected the right and authority of a trial court to manage its docket . . .").

When such a request is made, trial courts are obligated to enter an order containing findings of fact and conclusions of law. Absent a request by the complaining party, a trial court is under no duty to set out findings of fact and conclusions of law in non-appealable interlocutory orders.

*Id.* at Syl. Pt. 6.

Syllabus Point Six of the *Gaughan* decision is more than a mere procedural technicality, it is an important prerequisite to extraordinary writs because it creates an adequate record for appellate review. Without the findings of fact and conclusions of law, the appellate court is denied an adequate record of the ruling below. Here, DHHR failed to request a hearing on its motions to vacate, failed to comply with *Gaughan*, and, as a result, cannot argue that it has no adequate remedy below.

Because DHHR had other adequate remedies available at law, its petitions should be denied.

## **2. DHHR will not be damaged or prejudiced.**

The second *Hoover* factor further weighs against the issuance of a writ where DHHR has conceded that it will not be damaged or prejudiced by the Administrative Orders. Although DHHR equivocates throughout its petitions, arguing on one hand that it is impossible to comply with the Administrative Orders, while claiming that it has already remedied the invoice issues on the other, if DHHR indeed “has made exhaustive efforts to remedy what was a temporary and unforeseen delay in payments due to a software malfunction,” *see, e.g.*, Pet’r’s Br. No. 23-174 at 7, then it strains the imagination to comprehend how DHHR possibly could be prejudiced, having purportedly satisfied the situations the Administrative Orders were designed to address.

As this Court recognized in *State ex rel. Jaguar Land Rover Ltd. V. King*, No. 19-0222, 2019 WL 5681486 (W. Va. Nov. 1, 2019), a party is not aggrieved, and therefore not entitled to

prohibitory relief, where it has performed the action a disputed order compelled it to take. *Id.* at \*4. In *Jaguar*, the petitioner sought prohibitory relief from a discovery order. *Id.* This Court explained that the petitioner had agreed to identify and provide materials pursuant to the parties' approved Core Documents Agreement. As such, this Court reasoned that "it is difficult to conceive how [the petitioner] could be damaged or prejudiced by requiring it to provide information it either has an obligation to disclose or has agreed to provide . . . ." *Id.* So too here, if DHHR has in fact made the payments the Administrative Orders commanded it to make, its petitions should be denied where it could not be prejudiced.

It is also not persuasive on a petition for writ of prohibition to argue that there is no duration on the orders or that a different time frame for payment might be more reasonable. As DHHR is well aware, these are discretionary calls which could be addressed through proceedings and procedures at the circuit court level. DHHR's petitions for a writ of prohibition argue that Judge Shaffer and Judge Janes exceeded their authority in entering the Administrative Orders, irrespective of whether DHHR had one business day or one hundred business days to pay. DHHR's prejudice, if any from the date selected for payment or the duration of the orders, is first addressable in a circuit court proceeding, not a writ of prohibition.

**3. The Administrative Orders are not clearly erroneous as a matter of law.**

In addition, the third *Hoover* factor is not satisfied where the circuit courts' Administrative Orders were not erroneous as a matter of law. As discussed at length in Section IV.B below, the Administrative Orders did not exceed the scope of the circuit courts' authority because West Virginia Code Section 49-4-108 provides broad authority for circuit court judges to order DHHR to pay socially necessary service providers at any time. Also, the Administrative Orders do not violate the separation of powers under the West Virginia Constitution because the abuse and

neglect system in West Virginia is founded upon on the concept of judicial oversight of executive branch functionality.

This Court repeatedly has stated “that circuit court judges must take whatever steps are necessary to monitor abuse and neglect cases pending before them in a diligent and expeditious fashion.” *In re Brian D.*, 194 W. Va. 623, 635, 461 S.E.2d 129, 141 (1995). DHHR is subject to judicial review and circuit court decisions on virtually every aspect of its involvement in the abuse and neglect process. Additionally, DHHR has limited statutory discretion as it relates to payment of service providers, which is not infringed upon by the circuit court exercising its statutory authority. Finally, the Administrative Orders do not interfere with contracts between the service providers and DHHR where the statute provides the circuit court with authority to order payment and the contracts do not supply conflicting requirements. In the absence of clear legal error, DHHR’s petitions should be denied.

**4. The Administrative Orders do not represent an oft repeated error or disregard for substantive or procedural law.**

The fourth *Hoover* factor also weighs against the issuance of a writ because the Administrative Orders do not embody an oft repeated error or disregard for substantive or procedural law. If, as DHHR contends, the pervasive issues surrounding the invoices which spurred the Administrative Orders are the result of an isolated technology transition event, then, manifestly, the Administrative Orders could not present an oft repeated error. In any event, DHHR’s petitions demonstrate a disregard for substantive law where it has denied the circuit courts’ valid actions under West Virginia Code Section 49-4-108. Likewise, it is DHHR that flouted the proper procedures by hastily filing the instant petitions, rather than setting its motions to vacate for a hearing and developing the record below before seeking extraordinary relief from this Court.

These Administrative Orders are also the first time either court has taken affirmative steps to cure a growing cascade of concerns surrounding parents' and children's access to socially necessary service providers in abuse and neglect proceedings. These orders were not entered in October 2022 when the first computer payment problems arose; instead Judge Shaffer and Judge Janes carefully construed their authority and gave DHHR time to correct its errors.

As such, DHHR's requests should be denied.

**5. The Administrative Orders do not raise new problems or present an issue of first impression.**

Finally, the fifth *Hoover* factor is not satisfied because the Administrative Orders do not raise new problems or present issues of first impression. Rather, as discussed in greater detail below, this Court previously recognized the circuit courts' statutory authority to order DHHR to make payments. *See e.g., Hewitt v. West Virginia Dep't of Health & Hum. Res.*, 212 W. Va. 698, 702, 575 S.E.2d 308, 312 (2002); *In re Chevie V.*, 226 W. Va. 363, 370, 700 S.E.2d 815, 822 (2010). For these reasons alone, DHHR's petitions should be denied.

In sum, none of the five *Hoover* factors weigh in favor of entertaining a writ here.

**B. The Circuit Courts Did Not Commit Any Legal Error—Let Alone Clear Legal Error—by Entering the Administrative Orders.**

Neither Judge Shaffer's nor Judge Janes's orders are clearly erroneous as a matter of law. The Administrative Orders did not exceed the scope of the circuit courts' authority because West Virginia Code Section 49-4-108 evinces a legislative history supporting broad latitude for circuit court judges to order DHHR to pay socially necessary service providers. The Administrative Orders also do not violate the separation of powers under the West Virginia Constitution. The abuse and neglect system in West Virginia is founded upon on the concept of judicial oversight: DHHR's processes and decisions are subject to judicial review throughout the abuse and neglect

process. Additionally, DHHR has limited statutory discretion as it relates to payment of service providers, which is not infringed upon by the circuit court exercising its statutory authority. Finally, these Administrative Orders do not unduly contravene contracts between the service providers and DHHR because cutting the circuit court out of the payment process would be contrary to public policy and DHHR admits that such contracts do not contain terms regarding the timing of payment. This Court should deny the petitions for a writ of prohibition in the absence of the weighty factor of clear error.

**1. The Administrative Orders did not exceed the scope of Judge Shaffer's and Judge Janes's authority.**

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